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OHNR: OH-2007-09 DOI: 26 July 2007 

DTR: 15 August 2007 

Text Review: 
TRSID: J,;::======::---­
QCSID: ~ 
INAME: :r..:J ==;;;;;;;;;;;;:~--------,IText w/Tape: 20 September 2001 

IPLACE: ~:NSA, (SAB 2), (Oral History Room} 

IVIEWER: ~:MURDOCK, Linda L. .. 
:• 
:• 

Murdock: ~:The classffication of his tape will be SECRET unless o herwise specified 
~:at the end of the recordjna Jcday ,s Thursday 2~ July 2001 1 am 
::mterv1ewingl Jn the Oral His ory Room 
:•in the Natio • al Secur1ty Agency's SAB-2 building. ((Faint tap.)) Mr. f t.,.Js3s an NSA employee with 30 years of dedicated service , 
:,,having re i d in 1998 He also re ired in 1999 as a Chief Petty Officer 
t after serviAg 24 years with the Naval Reserve Security Group. He is 
; presentty • erv,ng as a senior technical spec,allst working as a con ractor m 
t support or the data acquisition organization I am Linda Murdoc from the 
~Center fo! Cryp olo91c History The initial top,c for todays interview will be 
~his exper,iences while in the U S Navy working the POPPY Program at 
; zeto Point. Adak, Alaska . Then we will discuss his many contributions to 
t the Nati9nal Secunty Agency curing his career working tn areas 1nvolv1ng 
~budget operational and technical EUNT, support to military operations. 
i and sy tern program management ((Pause )) I l would you 
tbe pl ·ase begin by telhng me a little bit abo f yourself . where you grew "' . i UP, wh~re you went to school and how 1t ,s. at you got yourself enlts ed m 
t the U ·ted States Navy • 

h <Smci~k)) Yes. Jh I was ah ;>om 1~J-.---------1 
t((sm . k)) in , ah , l:And I, ah , hved there most of my life 
iWen1- to school in the small town.called I INew York. ah I : !High·School. Ah, ":. :aid d.O some traveling for a couple of 
;year:'s when rn dad's bnck t<? a~ .• 'h'here I hveql for about a 
?year. and • for aQ ta.year ((Fam! t1 king )) But we eventually 
iweAt back ~o,__ __ ~ fld I. d gradua!e from I IHigh School. 
i ((Sflufflins·) The, ah.,: (sn., ck )) reas.orr I jo1.ne ' the Navy was mostly 
?hay-ing b n raised♦ - a.small t:,i,y : ah,.l•wanted to see some of the world 
fa"? go o· and di djf erent tf:li<lgs. And And , ah. I remember my mother 
iw s pr · up •• out tt\ f((s· ishing)) but. ah, you know, she She 
idiDn·t : ·ant ~ .to join.th•~ N~vy, but. ah, I was determined So off I went 
i< n sm. • )) Aird. J did my b:>0t camp at , ah , Great Lakes , llhno,s, ah. 
! uriC1g t ·e ♦wint r• onths ((ticking)), which was a big mistake ((He 
I • •• • • i hp c... .- ·Ali, I, ah , ((smack) ) after graduating from boot camp I .. My first 
!·.,, •••• ! • 
I• - ••• • • i--.:; t • .. ~ 
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assignment was the. ah. Comnunications Technical Training Center at 
Corry Field. Pensacola. Florida. ((Smack.)) And, ah. that was about. .I got 
there in January and graduated around September, so 1t was about a nine 
month school Ah, I stayed an extra three weeks to take some ELINT 
training courses that they were offenng for those that wanted to stay and 
take them. Ah, that ((slight pause)) part of communications interested me 
during the school, so I was am.ious to see what it was all about. And, um. 
((smack)) after some leave, when I graduated from school then I went to 
my first duty station, which was Adak, Alaska out in the Aleutian Islands. 
((Clears throat.)) I remember wondering how did I get this? I didn't put it 
on my dream sheet But, ah ((he laughs)). you know. rt was. It ((ticking)) 
was a. ah, very rewarding tour as ,t turned out and, ah. I was glad I 
got .. got to go there Initially, when I arrived in Adak, ah, I was at the 
communications station, the, ah. where the guys did. ah. regular radio 
printer operations and, ah, the COMINT side of the house instead of 
ELINT. But within a ((ticking)) short period of time, about a month and a 
half, I was ((pause)). ah. asked to. well. told that I'd be going out to Zeto 
Point and I asked what they did out there. And they said, "We don't 
know." ((He laughs.)) That's .. That intrigued me ((Tick/shuffling)) So. 
ah Ah. I went out to. to Zeto Point and .and. ah. met up with the team 
of, ah. guys that were tasked to. to man the operations out there ((Tick.)) 
And, ah, it was. ah. very 1ntere;ting It was. ah. of course it was the 
POPPY Program. ((Smack) l'nd at that time, the ... the program was 
really a. ah ah. ((crackle)) prototype system capability run by NRL ah. 
the Naval Research Lab And we were ((stghs)). ah, the first guys to .to 
run it from Adak. And, ah. everything was, ah. it was a very. ah. 
antiquated system Ah. I'll .. I'll say that. Ah. the reason I say that 1s 
because later during the year. the 13 months I spent there, ah. it was 
upgraded wrth. ah. a. ah. a full large, dish antenna mounted on a 
pedestal. Ah. and our ... The NRL guys came out there to install it and so 
we .we helped with the installation and the testing of it and everything. 
But prior to that. the operations was something you had to see~aWL---­
((H1ss)) 

Murdock: Can you talk me through rt? What a typical ..yatcll was tike ar1 w a your • 
responsibilitie~ wece.?. • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • : . . . . . . 

.-----.:.: •. ((Smack.)) Yes, um, we had an operations building, ah, wtiich ... which is 
where we had most of our anaytical equipment. And theh, ah. a ways 
away from the operations building, probably about 30 yards, there were · 
two huts, as we called them They actually looked like large dipsty 
dumpsters with yagi antennas sticking out of the toJiof them Ah, they 
were tied down with very heav•1 restraining cables-and, ah, they had a : 
combination lock on each of th·e doors And thefe was a, ah. a large rope : 
that was tethered from the farthest hut, up to the next hut. and then from • 
there on to the, ah, the front deck of our ((dC?E>r slam)) operations building .. 
I remember asking our chief. I 1what that rope was for? And · 
he said. 'This is the birthplace of the winds and you're going to need that • 
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at times., ((He chuckles.)) And I thought. "Aw. come on!" You .. ((He 
laughs.)) But ((inhales)) I ~as. as he usually was, rlghl on, and 
we used it many times. •Ah. the .. Each hut was 1denhcal to the other Ah, 
there was. ah. the operat.. There was two men in each hut at any given 
time, when we. when we had our skeds. and they varied during all hours 
of the day and night Uhm there was an acau1s1bon ooerator and then a 
recording opera·tor. I 

1----~--------~--..._ _ ___.I The acquisition operator 
• would have a cha. by h,s chair, bolted tti the floor. was a blQ, thick, 
•• leather strap. ((Tick.)) And that leather strap was to tte down the steering 
•• wheel when the wind was bloy.ing. because·y~,u couldn't hold it ((door 
• slam)) by yourself. ah. at times. And, ah. there'Q be times where you'd 

---------·think ((ticking)) the whole hut was going to blow right over and you'd go 
Eo 1. 4. (c) out into the Benng Sea. ((He chuckles )) But Bufwe . We, ah. we 
PL 86 - 36 150 use 3605 survived and it was a ... a lot offun. It really was. It wa~. ah, you know, we 

were 

Murdock: So the POPPY ((he sniffs)). yoo said. like was a. What we.would 
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········::;1! . 
traditionallycall.a.store-and-du"nf)?" • · · • · •• • • :::•:,•.:·: · . . . . . . . . . . . ---"I'!,. · . Yes·.. . . . · · · · . . · . ·. · . . . . . . . . . . 

Murdock: You'd store th~.ii:1forn'latio
0

n arid dm'np
0

it at (.(l'le ·sniffs.')) Adak Were you · 
the .ooJy■ du'mping spot for.~ . ' • , • ' • • , ' 

r 
Murdock: 

Murdock: 

. . . . . . . 
No 

for-POPPY? 

No, there were other programs Ah, Edzeil, Scotland, I think To(lendorf, 
Germany Ah . .({Short pause/smack)}fthink th~e was one 1n th~ Azores 
I'm not sure· • • . . . 
Do you remember what types ot'signals. predominantly, were !'ere bem~ 

• col1ected on what you were ~quiring? • . 
Most of what we were int.Etrceptmg was, Ah. Soviet, ah, early wa,:,,mg 
radars alona the coast: fhe coastal rad.irs. Ah and the method used by • 

Murdock: : '/Were there any new sign;Jis? Were. Were you authorized to as);ign 
,•'ELNOTs or .. . 

i._ ___ 1: : They were. for the m95t part. they were ((swallows)). ah. a goodj,umber · 
• of them were new s,ignals. Ah, as a matter of fact, my claim to f8]118 

________ ....., was .. I remember. once we got this signal that sounded very unusual 
EO 1.4. (c) • 
PL 86 _ 36150 use 3605 ((Faint tick.)) An¢. ah, I was then the, ah, recording operator and.I. .. And I 

.__ _______ __. did the initial a~lysis. measu·ements. And then I followed that }JP with 
analysis inside and it was an unknown signal It turned out to be·a 
HENHO ... fiEN HOUSE radar, which was a ... That was the first intercept or. 
that radar that we had The others were. I remember TALL KINGs and 
you knoo/.'·a lot of early wamin•~. ah, type radars that the Soviets pad 
along ttre coast And, ah, I don't remember getting man ... many, eh .ah, : 
targe\acqu,srtion or tracking rsdars because they They. of course. didn't: 
knoy, we were there. so they usually only go to the fire ack .. trac!ing and · 
fir~acquisition modes when .when they identified a target ((Voi~es in 
qackground ) ) 

Murdock: , i'm not familiar with ((laughter 1n background)) what a HEN HOUSE radar . 
." does? • 

.__ __ .. ~: It's .It's, ah. ((loud voices in background)) . 

Murdock: Hang on a second ((Recorder switched off and then back on.)) r • · 
I'm sorry. Ah, going back to my question. Ah, HEN HOUSE. ((rustling)) 
was that a .. a land-based radar as well? 

,el' 91!!0ft.1!!'1990MIH,.¥!89!0108 Page 4 of 36 
NSA Center for Cryptologic History Oral Hl•tory Program OH·2007 -09..t,C==:::r: 



IPL 86-36/50 USC 
I 

3605 I 
!H!OAIEFJiH8OMIHi45:!i0330408 ·' ., . , 

\ 
: . . . . . 1; ,,, ----•· It wfJs.a land-based radar. Ah, I believe it was a shorter, ah. shorter range 

,,, ... ... ... ... 
radar1hi!n, like the TALL KINGs and some of the others we used to get 
But I 1. ·J really can't remember now It's been too long ((Papers 
shuffled~))' • 

r«urdock: Okay 
. . . . . 

1:: I: .. .. .. .. 
Murdock: . . . . 

I: 

Murdock: 

' 

But I do remember the name a1d the fact that it was the first detection of 
that radar (U~usi!1ng)) And so, we. We kind of gave each other kudos 
when we got "'{Ord <tpat ,t was a f ,rst detect. you know . 

How did you report y0ur information? ((Smack)) And wh to whom did 
you report tt? ••• • • • 

We We sent. ah,'pur report . Well, we would do the follow-up analysis in 

the operabons bulldt(lg, ati.- where we had sonographs and spectrum 
analyzers and .. and other equipment that we would use to do a .. a .. a 
finer grain analysis of ·what we-recorded. And then we would. ah. 
((smack)) report our findings. ah-, via electrical message back to, ah. NRL 
and, ah, I'm told that they were ·They were very, ah, htghly classified. It 
was a BYEMAN control s~tem. I r~member that And that the. ah. the 
President was getting daily· reports or\ .. on those for some time. So it was 
fairly high import ... of ... of hig'b mportan~ so ... And, ah. but we'd send in 
electncal messages from the Comm cent~r back to NRL. And there 
were .It was, uhm, ((pause/ch~~)) we usett a form called Signals Analysis 
Reports. ((brushing sound)) ancl'basically ,t 'gave the parametrics. the time 
of intercept. uh. all of the details w, could tdet\ttfy from from our 
((crinkling)) analysis • 

Okay. Anything else from your time working that T{l1ssion that you want to 
share with me before we move on? •• . . 
Ah. 1t was . It was a It was a lot of fun~. Not Just becaµse of the m1ss1on 
but because of the .. the personnel workin.g there Ah, I ~as ... was 
a wonderful supervisor He was, you know. we were He was ((pause)). 
ah, Just a jo you know, a ((srrack)) serious, but pleasant individual 
He He was .. always had stones to share wtth us We were always. You 
know, most of us were, ah, seaman or third-dass petty officers at the time 
Hmm ... It was our first assignment. And so, you know, we .. We looked at 
him ,n awe of being a ch,ef petty officer. And .. And. you know, dunng the 
off-hme, we ... We'd. He'd share a lot of stories with us about what 
the ... what the Navy was like and what his duty stafis:>ns were like. So he 
had a very significant impact 01 all of us Ah. a very"positrve (bang)) 
impact But at times. you know in between skeds. yov know. we were out 
there .. We worked 24 on, 24 cit. And, ah, there wasn't.an awful lot to do 
on the island of Adak So I mean. once you·ve walked eyery inch of the 
island two or three times. and .and counted all the, ah, tt,e seals and that 
((He chuckles)) You know, we We dtd used to, ah, ((smack)). ah, you 
know. play a lot of basketball and stuff like that. But ((smack)) at times 
you'd get bored. so ... And you'd find mischief to get into Ano. .• ah. And. 
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ah and I remember several. .several stories. usuall 

,_------~---------- And, ah. we had a military vehicle . 
• a. ah, International Scout with 1our-wheel dnve that we could use to go 
: back and forth between the baTacks or the communications. ah, 
• headquarters. But at times that was being repaired and we had to use 
~ I lcar Ah, one particular ((smack)). ah. event that I remember was 
: : during. well at .. At the completion of an operation, asked. we did our 
: : analysis and we were taking the report back to the communications station 
·: to send ,tout via the Comm center. the message, and, ah. we had 
: • forgotten that ... Well the guy dnv1ng the car had forgotten about the chain. 
:: I . I. I haven't explained the cha,n During our operations there 
:: was ... Along the road. the single road Jead,ng out to Zeto Point. at the 
•· bottom of a small hill, there was a chain that we used to put across the .. 
•• road. connected to two posts. And the reason we did that was because 
:: the Marine patrol was always coming by, ah. checking on us. to make we 
:: were still alive and that kind of thing. Ah, and the ignition noise from their 
•• transmission would interfere wth our skeds. It .. It would actually be .. 
•• picked up by the yag, antennas and ... and really do a Job on a recording 
: So we would put that chain and lock it with a padlock so that they couldn't 
: get in there durin a sked. Well. ((smack)) ah, this one guy named, ah. 
, ((pause);,lpo,,, _______ .,._forgot that the chain jas ;ea~ he went 
; over.that , an compete y tore the hood off ((chck)) r. 

______ _,, ,. :. :. (Jl~1.tgflt.er~}t~e. f _f~~_?~Ot"l1eln"g"too happy a out that I PL s6-36/5o use 36o5 f[ ((Continues to laugh.)) But, at, and another similar event, we were ... We 
·•::., .. 1n1q tt1, ~m:e,rgency ge~r~tp( 941 .ttJ~re as art of operations ((smack)) for 
• ·.:·. when we losf power~ Arn:I _ at1 .• ah. the as all ... Whenever someone 
• ·:::·would get into some kind of trooble, __ .. ould atways have us paint the 

·.•gef'1'._.the emergency generator shack. It probably had 50 coats of paint 
",oil.it 6rthe time we ((squeak))left. But one ... One time. someone went 
iAto" S}IPPl1 .!o get some paint a,d they got a couple of five-gallon buckets 
o(..aR:~ans ht paint and as luck would have it. this was with his newer car. 
the~ hit a.pot h~ coming ... co11ing back and. ah, the cans of paint flew up 
in the. ai,, b.ff. they-.yere in the back seat and one of them opened up and 
((he lclughs)).hts .h1s·new car wasn't so new any more So. well that's. 
((He laOgh~)f. •• •••• 

Murdock; Was. ah:I • • ♦ • Jinstrum~~tet,n helping you pick your next duty 
ass.nnment? • • •• •• 

-~ • ♦ ~ 

___ _,,,: ((Smack )) Um. y86 i know he had in"put, significant input. for it And, ah. 
((smack)) ah. form& 1t w9s .. It was very·ff')~trumental because. um. I had 
about three months to 90 tln the island wheh. x,iord came out they were 
looking for volunteers. EJ..IN"t guys. to, ah, to rtra~ the USS Banner, which 
was a. a sister ship .a sister ih1 to the PUEBLf:> •• And one of our One 
of my good fnends named_...,......,. _ _..---.ah. ((fainl•~.mack}) he also 
worked at the Point with me, u m a, , "Come on,r. I Let's 

♦ 
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volunteer'" And I said, ~No .. I .. · At that time I had preliminary ord~r 
Kami Seya, Japan. And I was happy with those. And I said, ~No. 
I'm, you know, I can stick rt out for another three months. Ifs, you now. 
it's not going to be that long. And I really want to see Japan and "'ho 
knows where you're going to end up .. end up on the ship, you know:· And 

CJ.said, "No. I'm ... I'm out of here. I .. I can't take it any more. rin tired 
of this fOCk. I like the job, but I .. I want to get away from this islantt.n ((He 
chuckle~.)) So he volunteered and sure enough. he was selected.· Ah. I. I 
stayed ancJ·~ little later my ... Mr orders got changed to Atsug,. a V0-1 
fleet, air Rec6r.maissance Squadron One out of Atsugi, which macfe me 
even more pleasit~ And, ah. !(smack)), but I remember, ah, afte,:l'd been 
at V0-1 for a few n\Qnths, ah, I went over to Kami Seya, which was Just a 
few mrles away from iirt$ugi, to see some of my fnends And, ah, and n 

I l,was .was ,n the cruq And he'd been having several beers.:Snd.ah. 
as I appropched him, someooe said, "Nah, he's not in a v';!,z'..JLood:m(?Od. 
You don't want.to go see him" •~o .. but I did. You know,J..__Jand-1 "!ere 
good friends. Arid a~ it turns wt,Qad. ah, finished his six-moiltt,. tour 
on the ship and got orliecs agcin anc:Mfle orders sent him."right bac~ t,l:) 
Adak ((laughter)) Geez.♦ so .• So. ah. ~la1ed .. Uh, tie-was 
instrumental. I don't know exactlywpat he ~said he knew some 
people ((smack)) that would, a,, you lmo'f', h·e1tked n,y."EUNT experience 
We It was. ah, you know. I learned a lot whue t♦was ttiere And. a~ .. ah. 
he .. he made some ... some calls and sent a eot/p4e4!>f-.tnessages, ~hich. 
ah, got me assigned to VQ-1, and, ah ]I I 

M d k Wh d.d d VO 1? PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 ur oc : at t you o on - . 

----.: .. Wen .. most of what ·1 d;d· ~as" ~n~iy~.~~ A0

h~ ;~u- kn~~~ I .. ' I. , I . 'I flew. but 
not as a permanent crew member, ah, becausei was working ((faint tick)) 
in the analysis shop, recording•-! mean, ah:doing analysis on the Q3pes 
that were recorded dunng the flights. And I also worked m the intelligence 
office, um. and my job there, whic.h.iS~ .. I kind of split my duties really, back 
and forth. but my . My job in tpe1ntel office was to brief the pilots. coming 
and going, as to the ... the !h~at signals that they would see. And.:you 
know, what.. .what to look for and and. ah. what the parametrics were of 
them and everythi,:t8· ·And, ah, and what we knew of their locations. 
((clears throat)} which varied because a lot of the, ah, the SAM sy$tems 
that they .. Jhf! surface-to-air missile systems that they were using: 
were .'fl'i!re hand-held, and or ah, mobile. And so, it's, ah, it was atways a 
chapglng target, and, ah, atways a changing threat. • 

♦ 

Murdock: . {(Rustling.)) What was V0-1's pnmary flights against? 

____ 1: We flew the, ah, ((clears throat)) excuse me. flew the Sea of Japap 
mission, uhm. ((tick)) against North Korea. ((Smack.)) And we also flew 
TAD missions off the carriers, the Kitty Hawk or the Ranger in the:Gulf of 
Tonkin against the, ah, Chinese, ah, Viet Nam. Uh, the Sea of Ja):>an 
missions were flown The. The aircraft that we flew there was th'e. ah. 
((inhales)), it was actually an old, ah. converted DC-8 and we call~d them 
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the Willy Victor and it was a Constellation aircraft Oh. they could . They 
could hold 27 men. I think. a full compliment. And. ah, that was, as it 
turned out. the .. the aircraft that was shot down by the North Koreans in 

1969. Ah, and. ah, I don't believe I knew anybody on board the aircraft. 
but that.. That had a ((plink)) S1gniftcant effect on me when I heard about 
it. and so so. And the. ah. the aircraft we flew off the earners was a Sky 
Warrior. A3B, and one of them is sitting right out here in the Agency·s 
parking lot And it brings back many memones every time I see it. ((Faint 
chuckle)) So .and. ah. it was It was great duty. I mean. the squadron 
was like a family. Everyone was .. treated each other like family. I.. .I 
really enjoyed that 

Well, at some point during that tour you had to make that hard decision 
whether to stay in the Navy or to get out. ((Chck.)) What led to your 
decision to to get out and seek employment with the National Security 
Agency? 

Well. ah, I hadn't realty decided. ah. to seek employment ((rustle)) with 
NSA Ah, although while I was at Atsugi there was a Agency rep (sic) out 
there, ah 1 and, ah. ((click: pause>j I believe his last name was (B% 
J _ And I talked to him a couple of times, 
.when I thought I was going to get out. and he asked me what I was going 
:to do. And I said. "I don't know.~ I said. ah. "You're working at NSA 
+-iow ... How about NSA?" And he ... He said. ··well, you know. 
it's It's It's It's a huge orgamzatIon Depends what you want to do. 
you know" ((Clears throat)) He said, "I. I really don't know what to tell 
you." ((Smack)) Um, so I hadn't really thought about it I just, you know, I 
Aad the urge to, ah. ((faint smcck)) to get back home and see the family 
and. and, ah .. and ... and kind or take things as they went for awhile. I 
~as . I would've ((shuffling)) .I I I was very close to re-enhst,ng I think. 
but I Just couldn't make up my mind and so I decided, well if you·re not 
certain. then it's .. .It's time to go. Um, ((faint tick/pause)) and in hind ... you 
koow. ((smack)) hindsight I I don't know I Sometimes I think I should 
h~ve stayed in and other times I think well if you had stayed in then you 
((faint bang)) wouldn't have got a JOb at NSA and you wouldn't had all the 
opportunities you had through NSA So d's mixed feelings really . 
S~ did you apply to NSA ((clic~.)) while you were at Atsugi or? 

((tie clears throat)) No, actualy I didn't I. .I went back home and. ah, 
((s~ack)) I knew I needed to v.ork and I. .. 1 basically, ah, I wanted to 
coAtmue federal service, ah. and as luck would have it. { 1 
fr°'1 1 New York was a town called Romu}us - nd at Romulus 
wa,.the, ah, Seneca Army Depot, which was a .. al1. ((smack)) um, it. .. They 
had:13 couple of different missions. but, ah, <('Shuffle)) I .. . . . . . . 

.. 
.. r--.~~~~~~l"'!>---~--i"-"!'""!!~~---...... ---..a. 

....__,..~_.l((lnhales.)) So)bcfsicalty took a job. initially. working. ah. as ... as .. ~ . 
~ ~ .. 
~ ,oP 8E9Rt1W08MIH,J1'18818188 Page 8 of 36 
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a . a laborer, helping .. I . They would get shipments o( you know, rockets 
and grenades and all kinds of stuff. Ah, Viet Nam was still going strong so 
it was a .. It was a . replenishrrent center where different weapons 
were were shipped to Vtet Nam and we'd get 'em in, ah. via train and. 
you know, cargo airplanes and everything else. And so we would unload 
·em. store ·em and then when the need came, we'd ship ·em out again 
So I was basically working in the labor force. just. .just doing that. 
((Smack.)) And I decided ((clears throat)) I really didn't.. didn't like that JOb 
much. Ah. you know. especially when you saw somebody smoking a 
cigarette near this ... the structures where we housed the, ah. ammunition 
where .We referred to them as igloos. And so I decided, "I think I want to 
get a safer job than this." ((He chuckles.)) So, ah. so I applied for the. ah. 
secunty police and I was accepted by the security police. ah, on the base 
And. ah, you know, during that time I. I. ah. I got married and. ah, I 
thought I was pretty well set thare. but, you know. then I got the urge to 
Join the New York State Police And they used to come by the Seneca 
Army Depot all the time and stop in and talk to us who were on duty on the 
outside gates near the highwa~. They'd stop in. And so I got paperwork 
and I was. ah. I was 1n the process of applying for the New York State 
Police when I got a letter from NSA Basically they were putting out a. a 
hiring campaign to .. to hire, ah. ex-military peoole who ha: ciearanfn. 
Ah. they were looking to. ah. crvihamze. ah . ah. _________ n 

I I And, ah, so ((smack)) they offered me more money than I was 
making there l.lne, tf\0µ9ht. "Well It's NSA I never exPE(Cted to hear 
from them I think I'll give· 1f a try : • • • · . . . . . 
\Nhat were you hired as? EO 1.4. (c) 

I was hired as a GS-5, step 4 PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 

Murdock: In what skill community? 

, .. ----..: In comm ... as communications Ah. you know.. we ... We. ah ... ((Smack.)) It 
, wasn't ELINT though but .but it was COMINT. ah, collecf,on. And we had 
; to got through, ah, SC-270. which was a refresher course:for about three 
; months. ah, before we went to .1 I And. ah, ~ring that time. 
= the ... The refresher school. .The .. The courses were taught out of, ah, the 
: 

--------- old farm ((sighs)). now what were they? They were old wboden barracks? 
I PL 86-36/50 usc 3605 1 Ah. not.. .not barracks. They were old wood .((clack)) w(?Oden buildings 

•behind the barracks. And. ah ... ah. you ... where they had various classes 
goil'lf pn. And, ah. ((pause)), you know. so we'd .. We would go to class 
dunng thl!•d~y until temperature got over a certain tempe(ature And then 
you know. ((clrci<.)) a guy woulc come through with a barometer and a 
temperature gauge· And when it got so hot they'd have to release us, 
because ,t was unhealthy, ~ guass And so we'd go back to our parent 
organization and. you know, str.Ely ?ur books until it was t~e to go home. 
((Ticking.)) Ah, three months later, 1 • .4 ~~nt to I I Ah ((Pause)) 

Murdock: Okay I didn't see that ,n your, ah, your resum~ so that's an interesting 
~rt~ • 
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Murdock: Of how ... how you got hired an,j where you ended up So what did you do 
a1 land how did ((he clears throat)) you enjoy that tour? ------t-,. ltSmack.)) Well, atl lum, I enjoyed 1t a lot I. .. L ah, my 
_((rustling)) first. impressions were not very favorable, ah. by either me or 

• my wife. ((t,ta chuckles.)) 1...1 remember they ... When we first got there, 
: there.was no housing ((Ms Murdock coughs)) available So we 

: : w.er~ We were billeted in the the VO . the VOQ. Visitor Off.cers 
; • • Quarters. Ah. and the day that we arrived it was a miserable. foggy day-­--------= wet day. And I remember what The .The room we had was basically EO 1 , 4. ( c) • 

PL s6-36/5o use 3605 • a .. a, kind of a small living room area and then the bedroom and a 
-c- bathroom. ((Tick)) And that was rt Ah and it was just The whole 
c --•• building was Just filled wrth pecple hke mysetf. familtes and small kids. and 
C ••·t I .I ... 
I • 

Murdockl {(<;l!l!S in.)) So the m1ss1on grew before the accommodations grew? 

C 
> 
=­:• 
:• 
:• 

Murdock:: 
:• ----f: 
I • 

I PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 f ~ .. 

Yes~. ♦Yts Ah, I remember my wife walking into this room and looking out 
the WrrJdt>.w. out at to the antenna fields. which you could barely see 
because. of the fog, and just breaking down m tears. And I thought. ·oh 
boy'" ( (He. laUQhS.)) 

Was your W'ife ar,.NSA employee at the time? 

No, she was not Ah,. that the. rve been mamed twice That was my 
first wife. And. ♦ap an. no she was not an NSA em lo ee Ah. ((door 
ban s shut . ou♦know • And, ah, 

: :♦ -wi---------------------...-----!""'"""---------...-----: : • • ~ oppo unr y came open so we oo 1 

Murdock: : So \kere you assigned to"Q watch le.do ... what kind of collection? 

____ (· : Yes, I wa~ asstgned to a ((5fliff)) watch, Able Tnck We worked a rotating 
• : shift work. ·A~ ... Ah, it was, ah •• two weeks of eves, two weeks of days, two 
• .. weeks of mids: and then you s:art all over·a ain. Rustlin . And, ah. I 

: was working in, at'I,. rad1opnnter, • Ah, 
• : you know, copying the: ah, ((faint smack)) therrn-"ll"nlr,n:r-.ri[l7!:l'l:'""'!:l'~ah ... ah. · 1 mil~ary communications ch~-":_~,~- And. ah. y . It was 

• copying the same cases for ((coor 6a[lgs shut)) a long time, because the 

Murdock; 

♦ 
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l~rge antenna field at r ~nd, ah. rhombic antennas. all kmds of 
different ant. .. antennlis. But. and, ah. yeah. most. .. it was .. At that time. it 
was all I : I ((Sniff.)) You know, later down I was there for 
seven • ears. Uhrn~ eventual! I ot moved into a house in 

It was a nice. . nice 
,,_ _________________ _ 
• city al'ld everytt)lng, but the drive in and especially on mids when rt was so 
: foggy" you co4tdn't see the front. lnd of xrur car was ... was interesting. 
• ((He.■laughs.)) Ah, but we lived in or, ((sighs)) oh, I think three 
: yeats. Anq-then. ah, ((smackl1•t en we moved into I I ah. itseff. 
: into the, ah, ((pause)) they. lqac built some .. s~rt1e new flats. you know. 
·I • · ~ and we rA6ved into a flat. ~l'lt1 so that was much .. much 
:: more ~nvenient. e.as1er to get to w.ork ~nd everything. in nght downtown 
~ .' • I So !t.1ttas quite J?lftasant really. 
~ . . . 

Murdock: ot @uring your.seven y~a.rs \here did you progress in. 
: ihal you.worke<j .rf?" PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 ., . . . . . 

----•: ·c: S . ··c ~ Yes. ■ Afl.■ iriilialfy: r was·. lil<e I" said. 1 wa~ w~ m IS, a . 
~. •. • Uhm, and, ah. about ty.,s:r..tnrEtfryears later, I : 

EO 1. 4. ( c) 

PL 86-36/50 use 3605 

-------~ were severs eren a~ g ,a we cop, c an o o a 
: • time the seven years ovas up.I 'Pretty much Jwliorked in all the various 
• ((rustling)).area.· . ."area.s.and worked most of the targets there . . . . . . 

Murdock: : ~et•~ docur11ant • Exactly when W!3'f6 you hired by the Agency? 

---...:1~ ·:· ((Smac.k;}? 1 ~as hired on May 20;,. 1968. . . ,.____ . 
Murdock: :. So·you 1etif p. . •. 
• 1:·: 1.. llettr::::' ru'iim .• ~lllwas. j 

. . . . 
• • • IAnd I stayed because I had started taking University -....... -------: of Marylan9♦courses at night and I wanted to finish up with my Assoc,~te's 

• Degree .So I stayed a couple •:>f months extra and I actually left there-in 
: December of 1975 and returned to NSA : . . 

Murdock: : 9kay And when you came back to NSA, did you have d1ff1culty find•~ 
.•·a a new parent organization lo work with? . . ---...:a: · Ah, no ... no, not at all. Ah. I was. ah. r ht from the start I was ass ned to 

,e, OE!8NEZ!fiff88MIHifiYIOOl8 t 08 Page 11 of 36 
NSA Center for Cryptologic: History Oral History Prognim OH-2007 -09.Jlt:==-==-



Murdock: 

t 
Murdock: 

t 
Murdock: 

EO 1.4. (c) 

9E!Oftl!lfW88MIHfflil8811118 PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 

• r 
.: .. 

actually worked out of. ((Click.)) Ah. so I 
((Rustling.)) And then ... 

• I • 
. I did that for a ctxJple of years1 • 

• • I • 
• • :i, • 

. . . . . . 
. . . . 

r 

:i, 
~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 
':­
':­
':­
~ 
~ . .. .. . .. . .. . .. .. . .. . .. . .. . .. .. .. . .. . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Murdocl« So . 
. . . .. 

I 

Murdoc~ 
I 
I 

l· 
' ' Murdocki 
I 

' ' ' I I 
Murdock! 

I 
I 

. . . 
So it was kind of a politioal thing. • •• · 

When you le~~..-r,,,.......,.-x~id you first c_ome back to the Fort Meade are& pf. 
did you go directly to Berlin? • : • · 

Came back to Fort Meade andl ; :; r 
I I I. 

Until they changed ,t? . 

1 r: 
And so when that happened, which was about, ah, two years later. theri, 
you know. I decided, "Well. I want to go . I want to be a part of that~ A,:id 
so we went to Fteld Station Be•tin. 
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~ 
~ 
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Okay. So you were a collectio1 operator? 
EO 1.4.(c) 

- .. 
Yes. I was.. PL s6-36/5o use 3605 

( (Interrupts ) ) And after you coll . When .. When you collected the .• • 
information were vou ... What were vou doma with rt? • • 

Okay Where did you go after Bertin? 

Well. I stayed in Berlin for three years. ((Click )) Ah. and then I .. I came 
back to .. to NSA and ah, well I I back up a little bit. Berlin . 
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ann6~A~;rne~t.qame open for lhe search tower, doing ELINT things. And 
of coucsE! that caught my ... my interest right away. And the position that 
they wiJ[e loo~in~ for was advertis~ at two pay grades higher than what I 
was Art(J I thciUQht.:wen there's no tl•uimqe I'm going to be selected for 
this.n But·J though'!; ~well you never know unttlyo~ try." So I. .I put in for 
it And, ah:.and lo arid.beb<;>ld, I was. ah, called for an °lnter.v!ew by the 
senior seard) representative: a ((smack)) gentleman named ._I ____ _. 

And I went and talked witht=j!od he found out about my ELINT 
background and everything and he.selected me for the pos1t1on So I did 
an in .. .in-service transfer, just over to a ui"~""'"'nt billet in, you know. a few 
vards awav m thasearch towe·. And, ah.I tnade me protect manaoer 
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. . 

everyt 1ng we , to o t at. twas very eta, an . . ut 1t was a ot o 
fun and I really enjoyed that <:Rustling )) Matter of fact. ((tick)) my 
wife . my wife of that time at one hme told me she thought I loved my work • 
more than ... than her ((He chu:kles.)) No comment! ((He laughs.)) 

That was your first wife. right? 

That was my first wife ((laughter ticking )) 
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ah. stench in there, the burning of the paper and everything in it was in a 
relatively small, confined area. so we tried to get out and get fresh air 
whenever we could. ((He chuckles; tick)) But so that. that's basically 

ana 

What ... What years were these? 

Ah. that was ((pause)), that was 19, ah, I think that wa➔ lhrough, 
((inhales)), let's see. wait a minute. When I went to ..• yeah} I 
((Pause.)) Yeah Ah. ((smack)) Berlin was fascinatJng. I mean. talk about 
a target-rich environment. I mean. it was absolute'ly arl)azing You 
had . And of course. the Ber1m Wall was up at \.!'lat ti01e And I remember 
our first night there. I heard . I woke up to th& sound of tanks rumbling 
And I thought. "Uh. just my luck. They decided Jl'ley should come in and 
take the city." ((He chuckles )) Well actu;rlly, u·was the 40th Armor. our 
own tanks, going by on their maneuver$ thHJugh the city. Ah. but it was, 
ah. fascinating places. One of the cleanest It was one of the cleanest 
cities I've ever seen. Ah. it. It had■ ev~ryth,ng you could imagine. I don't 
care what .. what you like to do. J ♦mea·n. it was there. The Gruenewalde 
Forest was just ((tick)) beautif\,t. lt♦ was, ah .. ah, the Berliners themselves, 
very proud people, they woum l)Ot speak English unless you first 
attempted to speak German, J1ut that was easy. I .. I developed a couple 
of phrases and .. and once.~ ~once they saw that I was butchenng their 
language, they'd go o.ut (tticking)) of their way to help me. you know. But 
it was, um, ((pause}Y at1. it .. it. . Time went by really fast I really enjoyed 
it. thoroughly. And of course, the fact that there was shootings ((s,c)) 
almost. at least,•~•ery other d2y, that you could hear. ((Tick.)) You know, 
and .and th~•.♦.you know, many people died trying to get into West Berhn 
from the ec1st. ·Ah. it was a .. It realty drove home the meaning of freedom 
I rememb~, one .one Christmas going ... Going to work. I drove by the 
40th Ardlt>r Headquarters and rt ((rustling)) had a tank out front. which 1s 
((tinkliiHg)) of course their business. but because ,twas Christmas, they 
hag•a Chnstmas tree sticking up from inside the turret of the tank And I 
t1t0ught, "Well now. there's symbolism for yout·· You know ((Pause)) 

t,1urdock: ;.:·so it looks hke you left Berlin, not realty wanting to? 
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~-------_.The po itical atmosphere that we were in, the 
• €>ff1cers knew the real reason. I ... I believe I. I never saw this in wntmg • 
SO'l don't ((ticking)) I can't attest to ft. but .but I was told by others that · 
the Officers knew about the real political reason why SU .. r I . 
was civihanized when we went over there. And so. rt wa's hke we · 
((ticking))•were put into a very :ense environment righl from the start And • 
it was always, you know. ah, qJeshons, ah. some reslstance. ah, not .. not • 
with the enlisteq people. but w~h some of the offrcafs who felt like. you 
know. we were .. ~we were, ah. ((bang)) intruding. ♦ -And unfortunately, ah. 
some of the families. . some of our families that went over with us felt that 
because we .. We had-to live v,.ith the officers .• We were. you know, 
ah .. ah, DOD representabves from NSA and ~s such we . we lived m 
officer country You know~ JNe billeted ((baot))) in officer country And 
there was a lot of ah. hardshtt involved with that. And I mean. I didn't feel 

. . . .. 

. . 
Murdock: So when you came back to. NSA. where did you end-vp? •• : . 
i 1: .• ((Smack· .. )) Um.~ · · · · · .··' · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · : I PL r 

. 86-36/50 USC 3605 

Murdock: What office did yo~ ~?,'f;· ;Y:'~~ t<>!l ................... -.-: 1 
• 1: .. I" went io thel J • I :>ecause I had trapgferred into ah, a ~ 

Murdock: 

billet. Ah. while I WiiS in Berlin I went back to fhe "ah, 
where they actualJf made me the ... the.taSking manager for 
and .and the SEtarch tower. Um,.({tiCK. ing)) andll didrthat for-a'""!'bo_u_t_a'!'"h-. n_o ... t 
quite a year. actually. V\l'hen .•. ~en ((banging) ah. asked me to take 
over as roe~ mana er «or·a news stem that was be1n develo c(b 

. . . . . . . 
.. 

. . . . . . . 

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 
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---"Ill@ At that time. ((smack)) I was ... 1 must have gone crazy. because ((Ms. 
Murdock chuckles)) at that time ((he chuckles)) I was actually asked to, 
ah I went on an interview iQ and. ah. ((rustlin )) a wonderful lady 
named • d ((smack)), ah, ere ... were 
the. ab.~__. a~ .. a . was the offKte c;hief"( snapping/shuffling)) 
an9· ·.and sher d~AutY • But·((shuffling)) they asked me if I'd like to 
g~t♦ ihv..efVed '{vi.th sorhething brand new in the wortd of budget. ((He 

.:.:~•es·)) And my Job was that of a .a TGU agent, Target a TDU 
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agent. Target Decision Unit agent. who would, um. help. welli- .I 
actually wrote a lot of the budget documentation to ((cracklirig)ito start up 
new proJects and then I would have to defend those initiat.lve(-tR front of 
the IC staff and different internal NSA review processe~(pro9ram build 
and budget, rt was all part of that Ah, and that's .. T~sfs whfir« I became 
a very good used car salesman ((He chuckles: ru~tl&.)) 0~1- It was It 
was completely different from anything I'd ever dQtlf before'.: I~ was 
the ... But what intrigued me ab:>ut it was the waf ttt,ey defi,:iea a lo me was 
that I'd get the opportunity to v.rite brand new.ihi!iatives, witt, fQJ1dtng. to 
provide. ah, new and better equipment at t~e f~eld sites. A')d during my 
time in r l((rustling)) and 1n Field .Station Bertin. 8 lot ~ what I saw 
was old equipment ((ticking)). ah. you k.now.,·the ... The ... ~Toe p)'ir)ters that 
we used would continually lea~. oil on.9ou. you .. you knoll{ Atr, some of 
the ~u1pment was Just never workitrg ngtit ((tick)) and-so-in my own mind 
I thpught, "Well, here's an opportunity to do something· at>out that.'' You 
kn.ow. if ... If you can .. can ... ca~.create programs and: ... end $ft}nd those 
pFograms that will get new ane ... and updated technolog;, out to the field 
~rtes, then that's ... that's wql't1 do~g. ((Pause.)} AnfJ w~at I : ·,asked to 
.oo was I actually beimi" the this was the office • f m ck)) 

: I became the. ah. the representative for. ah . at1. : ...... ....-...-....... '!""---: and, ah, again which was very highly compartmente . • n a ot o my 
• fnends, when I was ml jah, went to the • program that 

: was ... It.. .Jt.fll'St-calrie" out when ... when we were in,,__ __ ___. And, ah, of 
_______ ..,.: .. ,.:~~~Jt . .1,~~4 . • • • · · · · · · · t 'Anet clh", a·1ot"6l hem left. ah. 

EO 1.4. (c) transferred ((t1ckin )) over. Ah, they actually hc\tl to resign from the 
PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 And ... And. 

r.-."'· i""=a-,!"!l:so-!'!I. -~a .... --so.-m~~g':"!'uT':P-~e!!'!';-e----a-~ge~--o"'lls~e"!l!'e._o!'!!!m~e of the 

r-::: ~pie fh'at t.• ~ kl'\e!N. f~onf.__~___,~ome of cny friends. Um, and that 
~ • tl?t>Gr.tunrty, wen basically, y~u kno~. what a JOU agent dtd, hke I said, 
: •• was .. . W8$ to, in some cases, ah, write n&w 1nitiatives de nding on what 

• ♦ • • 

: • the r uirements were. I mean ou know ~ ah. . 8% . . . . 
:. first started.won<i:·there. And, ah, within.a couple of years he was 
: replaced byr I.. I Um, ((smack)) and so I. in getting to 
; learn what the ... t requIreme1ts, the quirements were, I spent a lot 
; of time at .. at that time down in....,........, _____ And, ah. um. ((tick)) I 
~ enJoyed it very much And ... an go pre y good at defending those 
: initiatives Ah. but it was . 

Murdock: : lnterru ting )) If rm not mista<en, they had a pretty healthy budget under 
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mission. I. ah. very much enJoyedl.,. ___ .,,.I H~ ~a~ ~-very 
personable .. At his level, I. .I .. I was surprised at what a personable 
((click)) man he was. He not ooty cared about everyone that worked that 

r ram, he ... He knew them name. You know. he re nized them. 

But, um, you know, I ... I worked as a TDU agent for four years. and 
thoroughty enJoyed that progran. Ah .. 

Murdock: Just ((rustle}) to clarify for mys3lf, as a TDU agent. did you start new 
initiatives where a contractor Yt0uld do the research and development or 
were we, at NSA. doing our own research and development at the time. 
and bnng1ng in contractors when we wanted to to build this sm'tM---......:~--­
modular equipment? 

___ .. r . ■ We~< ~MOsl bf the ·deVeK>p . . . . ■ • • ■ • • ■ • • • ■ • • • • • • • I • 

divi~. &t.wao~t • • ••••• • 
for .. L_J Um, but, yeah, yoJ're right. There were several contractors 
brought in by the Agency, by the developmental division to ... to help 
((snap)) in that effort And. ah ... ah, what I would do is basically from the 
requirements phase, I would write a .. a PBS1, which was the first 
document to to outline the requirement, um, ProJect Baseline Summary 1: 
was what that stood for And t1at would basically, ah, define the · 
requirement. It would put som~ boundaries on the requirement in terms 
of. you know, if it was a receiver, you'd have to iden1ify the freq ranges you: 
wanted it to be in. And you ha,:J to identify, you know, some of the ... some : 
of the design features that must be built into that system Um, and .. And 
then from the PBS1, ah, ((smack)) my role there was was to. to kind of • 
take the requirement from the customer ((smack)) and put it into writing 
with help from them. to make sure that we had the requirement clarified. 
And then from there we went to a PBS2. which is where the developer 
would identify. um. how they intended to develop that system Um, in 

some cases. as a matter of fact rn most cases. they had more than one 
alternative, ah. design and they ... They would in that case identify both of : 
them to where the customer would ultimately be. . be the decision factor as· 
to which one they preferred to go with. And from the PBS2 we would then : 
write a system acquisition plan., which would, ah. identify the ... the • 
specrf1cs as to, you know. how much of this 1s going to be developed by 
us How much of this is going to be commercially available equipment -
off the shelf stuff? Ah, you know, how do we plan to do the 1ntegrahon of tt: 
together? What's our acquisib:>n plan? What. How much 1s ,t going to · 
cost us to buy. what we need t,) buy? And how much will be. ah. spent 
us ... using procurement dollars? How much will be spent using, ah, um, 
RDT&E developmental funds? And what was the requirement for O&M 
lifecycle support? So we would put the entire acquisition. ah, tale in this 
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document and that was what . what the people in the N Organizahon 
would use to track our programs as they went along. ((Rustle.)) And then, 
of course. the fun part ((he ch1..ckles)) was .was realty when it came time 
to srt in the RAC room and defend these initiatives in front of ((tick)) the IC 
staff and other congressional staffers. 

Murdock: The RAC room? 

I t . . l'1e.~CfQQfQ ................... ·J PL 86-36/50 USC 36051 

Murdock: VVhat? •••••••• • • • • • • • .: , 
•••• ■ • • • • • • •• - ' 

---~ .... Good, ah. Resource Action Coonsel. I tt,ink is:what it stood-for, but .bui rt 
was like a rack. In my opinion, it YJa.<&a lo ... IJ yvas more ((soaiff}) ... more: 
akin to a rack used for torture.iFl"tb~ old days.• ((He laughs:!) You know~ 
what's. It was tenser It was, al•. um, diffteutt: You had to JtJstify your • 
program and ... and right "down to the dollars a;nd cents sometimes, and: 
you had to be able to. ~h~ verbally identify .wtrat ... what the <equirement~ 
were. VVhy vte(e· y9u"building this? You ~ow. what..wha'\y.,as your : 
developroerital JlP"proach? Ah, all these things, all the .. Aryy-queshons • 
theY. wa"nteq to ask they could 3Sk. you khow: · · 

Murdock: • A"n·d theyViere very smart and very technica( . . . 
---~.~ They were very smart. very technical . ." • . 
Murdock: • ·And you had to be very, very prepared~ 

___ .. f • Yes. 1. .. 1 especially remember a gentleman: named I . I · 
((Smack )) He was chairman of the tC staff; I faced fi,m tour times. Arid 
at the end of the fourth cycle, I decided I'd t"!ad enough. ((:i.-te chuckles.)) 
And during the break .. Well, during.that.. during my .. my review. he ... ~e 
stopped me m mKl stream. The rOQm was filled with peo?le. ((Clears • 
throat)) He stopped me in mid str~am and,t,e satd, "I want to make a point 
here.~ He said,~, want to make a.point, not Just to1 (but to everyQne 
in this room" ((Snap.)) He sad,.1._ ____ .. l>riefing is very smooth. It's: 
believable. He's done his horlle\('ork. He's presented it well.~ He said, 
WBut there 1s a hme, which 1s rap_,dly approaching during these austere: 
years when your personal integrity 1s going to mean more ((snap)) tha11 
what's in black and white.~ And so everyone Just kind of nodded and, you 
know. I Just let that sink in, an.a .. and, ah. during the break It .. It waS: 
((mechanical motor)) announc;ed that that was my last cycle. Someone 
announced 1t during the (2G)~ And during the break he stopped me out in 

the halfway and he said. "Wtiy you. ah. why are you getting out of thisi~ 
He said, "You're ... You've le#Jrned how to do this very well·· And I saKl: 
WWell Mr. ah, I I~ I said, "To be perfectly honest with you:·: I 
said. «For the things that I really believe m, feel strongly about, ifs easr · I 
saKl, »But there are sometimes some things that I don't really feel like L can 
really support strongly. And I support them as best I can. but I Just cari't 
put my heart into it and it's not so easy r And he said. "I se. Yes. I COl!ld 
sense that in you.' And I said, ~ves. I could sense that you could sense 
that in me" Because he was like a pit bull If he sensed that you didn:t 
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believe what you were saying, he would latch on to you and shake you like 
a rag doll. Not literally. but I mean, you know. And, ah. and I know I left 
several sets of fingernails in n the end of that table dunng some of those 
sessions. ((He chuckles)) But. ah. ((snap)) he later be. um. left the IC 
staff and came .. came here as the, ah, I think he was chief of staff for 
awhile A very knowledgeable gentleman. He was tough but very fair 
((Snapping.)) But that was ... That was ... I thought that was the end of 
my .my program build and budget career. but it it wasn't 

Murdock: Before we go on to your next assignment, rd like to go ahead and take a 
break 

---t• Okay. 

Murdock: ((TR NOTE. Interview resumes.)) Okayllah. we ended up with you 
talking about your time down in the RAc.'"""wh'at else would you like to tell 
me about your. your time in tte budget world? . 

---"""t Ah, basically it was, ah. ((smack)) at,, there was some .. a sense of 
frustration at various times in the ~odget. And .. And ((rustle)) that 
frustration stemmed from from ti-le fact that it's not as easy to ... to write a 
program and to get it all the way•through to the point where there is 
actually a system deployed and° .as I thought it was. I was very na-.ve 
when I went into it I had no idea of what the ... the. ah, political 
ramifications were from Congress and how difficult it was to get the CCP 
approved as we we hoped it 'NOUld be. Ah. there was always. you know. 
there. the .ah, congresSK>nalcuts that came down and we'd .We'd have 
to, ah, write impact statements to those cuts as they affected our program. 
And I was na'ive there too, because I'd, you know. I'd write the, you 
know ... at. .. at times, fpr instance, they decided to cut 50 percent of my 
O&M momes and wl]ich would provide life cycle support to my system 
And .. And the truttiful answer as to what the impact was is that you've Just 

• killed my system. ;If I can't suwort it in the field. the first time something 
breaks. I've got a very heavy paperweight out there. But. I wasn't allowed 
to say that as an impact statement because those who knew more than I 
did, ah, sa,d that well if you say that. they are go,ng to take all the money 
that ((snap))we've got. not 1us: your O&M They're going to take all the 
money. Anrl I said. "Well, they might as well. because they are going to 
kill my program if they take the O&M.r They said, .. Yeah but we can 
re ... reprogram what's left into something else. rt they don't take it all." So 
that warJ the reality of things. And ... And at times I just felt very frustrated 
when that would happen, because it's like ... and .. and that's why I 
even,Ualty decided to stop doing it because it. .. It really caused me pain to 
not.see something come to frution, that I'd hoped it would 

Murdocki In.retrospect to those years. what do you feel were your biggest 
• contributions to theQmssion as far as the the equipments that they 

.needed and got:)· 

---·c ... I. ~-l think". ((~tutters)). ah. without realizing it. I. .. I've ((pauses)) somehow 
I•• • • 

_______ _, 
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developed the ability to. to talk to people and .. and to communicate good 
with them, ah. very well with them, easy almost in terms of identifying their 
requirements. And And. ah, ::>ecause ... because of my military 
background and my my prevous assignments, I was able to put myself 
in their position. Ah. you know, if they started saying something was 
antiquated equipment. didn't v.iork. I've been there and done that I knew 
what they were talking about. So it beca ... It was an easy process for me 
in the most part to be able to o:>mmunicate And in that commun,cations, 
it wasn't that d1ff1cult for me to ,jocument the .the requirement I think that 
was m~ ~trong point, being able to document the requirement. And that's 
whyl _ ~ade the comment that time that . that my 
presen al,on was bel'ievabte. M> .• s9 ... . . . 

Murdock: Then you left that world and m 1986 you.found ~ourse4f.11'l \Wll~~lllUt-----
acquisition wor1d. PL s6-36/5o use 3605 

__ __.1: .. ((Smack· )) Yes." an·. c::} ft wss/( (st;l'ap~ )') ttte". • th~ 'bfH'et:. e o er en 
of the program build and budget where ((snap}) it was Ute ~n internal ~SA 
police force It was. ah We were identified as SMO&: Systems : 
Management Officers. Each of us had on the aver~~e of about 70 mc!jor 
programs that we monitored fer N Group. And, pfl, our job:was to ·· 
basically make sure that the documentation w.d~-complete,·ah, in :: 
accordance with NSAC 25-5. which was o~, ~qutSition. ah. bible. rf y".Qu 
want. Ah, that they did a PBS 1 that, you.know. the developers compteted 
a PBS2. that the system acquisrt1on plal'I identified what th~y really needed 
and that they were in fact spending money as they went along along: 
those plans. Ah, if. If we found iQ ♦ourmonitoring that programs wer~· 
starting to have schedule shppaaes. f(smack)) cost overrurCs. or problems 
of that sort. we would call t~,~-th~ program managers to tf'!e table ai:td 
we'd ask questtons -How.ean w.e help you?" "What's "you know,:v.ce 
got the reputation of .of.((clac~,) being, ah. hatchet men but really \?e; 
were there to ... to try tQ llelp • • : • • 
move programs alopg and not .. not to kill them. Ah. there ..yere times: 
when .. when proj.ects were really in deep trouble and that required, lit'!. 
with ... with our ~crackle-)) recommendations. the Seniors Review Group 
would meet .• you kno!A': at. .at the top levels and .. and mak, decisions 
whether tQ continu~·the program or not : : 

Murdock: In your .r,asume ~ou you mention the fact that you brought ]1eeded:fo~us 
on to.a mult1-nirtlion dollar proJect that had been in acquisitlOO and : : 
d~velopmenl stage for 10 years and suffered from serious cost ovetrurs. 
sthedule sl1J:)s and postponed delivenes. Can you tell me a little bit about . . . . 

• that? • : • • 

1: QThat was the .Yeah, that.. That was the. ah. WRANGLER t(s~hs)) 
repository. Ah, it was being developed at the time a1, ah, r ou. 

now. t's. ah, WRANGLER 1s a very. very important tool for • : 
analysts and .and. ah. and collection man ers in that it. .it colle s. : 
consumes as well 
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I ( So •·• It's very 
important but unfortunately, it's a .. at that time it was a very huge, ah. 
effort in terms of hardware. at'( li3nd ... anct. ah. it was ... It 
was suffering from, um, ah. aK multtple users d'J1 the system at the same 
time, ah, response, ah, causing sig.nificant res~. se tim~· problemsQ 

Ah, ,twas. you know. ---~-----------------...... several years in development. Ah. rt was supposed to be a. a. ah.:three-
phased development and .. and they had not gQt to phase two yet. ·And 
then. you know, they were already at the po .. I thtnk there was something 
like, ah. ((snap)) I don't remember the exact number but it was multi­
m111ton dollar, ah, deficit alread;. There were cost:oveiyuns, schec1ule 
slippages. Ah. very obvious that 1t needed some.· •. "Some senior 
management. ah, oversight. And so I presented the .. :after talking with the 
program managers and developing, you know. a I.st Ql the variou$ 
problems that they've had and the history. ah, I prl$ented that briefing to. 
ah, Mr. John Saadi, who was then DDPR and. ah, {lshuffling)) and with his 
guidance and continuing monitoring. ah, they were ebJe to pull it off. 
WRANGLER has, you know. ~me on and and gr f,,..,,,,."""' 
since .since then. PL 86-36/50 use 3605 

Murdock: What other ((pause)) ma1or things happen~d wt:ten 
acquisition? That was a PJ:tCtG>d of■ trme, 

0

ifl remember correctly, where. '86 
to '88, .w.~re we h~d mo~ey, we were starting to lose our money:? . . . . 

--......:•: • • Ah. '86 to '88? ((Pause.)) Um. ((Pause.)) Ah, ((pause/smack)) I don't 
remember any. any specifics :>ut I do remember that. ah, I believe it was 
in that same time frame that a lot of ... of, ah, focus was starting t6 be 
apphed towards the narcotics problems. Congress had ident1f1ect that as a 
real need for us to .to start looking into, ah, efforts to help deal with that 
Counterterrorism followed along with that a little while later. And:So there 
was. you know. very significan:. ah. change in direction, if you want, as to 
where we should start investing some of the funds. Ah. I think th~t was 
the major cause for. ah, for . for that that refocusing, you know.• And 
because of that you know. some of the programs that we previously had 
were seen as less important than they ... they previously were. AOd ... and. 
ah, we were directed. I .. I, a matter of fact. ah. that first. the first push 
towards that area. toward the narcotics effort. ah. started when .. when I 
was still a TDU agent. I remember that Congress levied money, gave us 
huge amounts of money and said, basically. fix it Do what you ~n to fix 
it And .. And we struggled with that That was tough. It's .It stiff ,s a 
tough target. And. ah, you knew, I ... I ... I do remember that as being the 
period that there was a sign1f1cant change here in the Agency ,n tt:3rms of 
program build and budget 

Murdock: Having worked both of those areas, system acquisition and budget, how 
involved was the Director or th~ Deputy Director an those kinds o~decision 
making processes? 
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---~t Well, ah. from my perspective, I mean rt's not hke I dealt with the Director 
• or Deputy Director directly with the exception of when I did ((crackling)) 

• .present a WRANGLER bnefmg to Mr John Saad,, the DDPR That was 
ff'le highest level within the Agency that I, you know. dealt directly with 
U"m. and .And he was very involved. I mean, he. I, you know, 
he. ·and .. and the Director. I mean. you know, they we They were 
concer.nect They wanted to make sure that money was being spent the 
way we~~ we intended it to be spent And . And, ah, and. And that ,twas 
monitored~. And. And it was. you know. ah Timely system acquisition 
was a ... was fJ great concern then just as rt is now, you know. In ... In that 
respect. it has1it changed at al. The . The difficulty is the changing target 
environment arrd the . .the capabilities of .. of, you know, our .. our 
enemies Ah. yoCJ.know, this The The technologies that have changed 
in the .. in the penott of time that I've been here at the Agency 1s 
astounding. you_ .you know. And ... And it's ((rustle)) getting, you know, 
and .and It was rapidl~ changing back then as well. ((Chck.)) Ah, there 
((faint smack)) was always a continuing, and still is in my opinion. battle 
between COMINT and ELitiT Ah, ELINT, ah, again I may be biased here 
because I love ELINT so mucj,. but ELINT has always taken, ah. played 
second fiddle Ah. ,rs .. Dunns.a time of crrsis when our military 1s moving. 
ELINT is of paramount importan~ and everyone realizes that You need 
to know what those radars are an<.'J.what the shooters are and ... and how 
that's going to affect our ... our missions and plans. But the minute that 
crisis dies down a little bit, then all the money ,s directed ( (clicking)) baci< 
mto the COM INT arena again Ah, thaf was. ah. ((pause)) that .a a fact 
of nature I mean, it. .. it just, you know. a·nd I don't really see that 
changing a lot today. • 

Murdock: ((Shuffling.)) I . .I won't disagree with you. I ((pause)) and I don't think 
you'll ever win the war • 

___ .. ~.•NG.• •••.....••••..•...........•. · I PL 86-36/50 USC 36051 

Murdock: Where ELINT ever qewmes the•mas1er~ ·: :,·:.-r i • ············· ... .,.-• , .. .. __ __.1: • ·we We We ELINT people have l:1°S8Y.iA~l l:LINT kills and:COMINT :: 
lies. • • · · · • .. .. .. • • ·: · · 

Murdock: . . . . . .. .. 
.. .. .. .. .. .. 

------.:1: · · Yes. ah. ((pause/smac~)ni• very nice gentleman named (B0k 
called me into his offrCe • one day when I was still workin in~---~.,.... 
asked me tf I'd 9Cil/l5ider being a br?fich chief an . 1n 
I . I actually. And, ah.,-it was an opportu .. n ... it_y_t.,..a_t_ .. -A'!"'s...,.e 
descnbed .it♦• \twas. ah. as a bra,nch chief in charge of the, what they called: 
the WRANGLER extensions ..• extensions to WRANGLER in terms of : 
r-1analys,s tools. Ah, of course, I I Jumped at ,t I found out that the • 
'rea'r're'ason a little later □old me that the real reason he wanted to : 
bring me down there was. one his branch chief was leaving for another • 
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Job and two: he wanted me. . to get me out of r7 where I was a SMO 
continually asking questions about WRANGlt.~d the other tools. ((He 
laughs.)) I was . I was getting to be a paiQ•ln his backside. But, at any 
event. the, ah, the Job was a great job .1· I was a branch chief in charge 
of, ah, I .. I ... the number escapes me, but I think it was between 9 and .9 
and 12 1ndiv1duals made. mace UJ:!0f both contractors and NSA civihans 
Our major task was to, ahLdevelOpl lmatysis tools and deploy those 
tools to your ma1orl IProcessing centers Ah. one of the, ah, 
the ... The most important tqc,(s.th.at we were developing was .. , ----.. I 
correlation tool.. •it would .ta~e'l7intercepts and correlate those to 
where you co~d plot ~hd!ie. e'fl."'on p...!!l.lQ,and iden~if.v•r Ion 
any ... any m:. It w~.♦:The ... The .L-Jcorr~latpr at time was a tool 
called I • _ 1 .tt eyolved into. -and~~ .·ana let me back up a little 
And v/e wou ta~ .irie software. that • : • • correlator. and integrate rt in 

with.~. ah ... ah-,.Q\fN ... a .•. a• mixh,i~o hardware, ah, and deploy the 
corpbi!'atio1,o.tlhos~.two t~~1o the ... the, you know, analyhcal centers. 
Tt,e,. ah. I\::_ . j C<?rr~IMion algorithm I ah. eventualty evolved into 
~h)!t ... fitb a iool J~at-is now called I land rt·s being used in the 
_ope1.fiocif • .: ♦fenviron"°!e.nt at-the Office of Naval Intelligence and m 

•.~Y.-<?'!1iDA§ her~ ~t.NSA Ah ((pause)) and we, ah, when we were 
.:·l{~r"l~.tbat ♦to61, as luck woul:t have it, it...it, ah, we .. we .. we, that's 

;:.:!~nen: ah, DESERT SHIELD and DESERT STORM first started up. 
_______ _,. And ... And that's when we came into our own, realty, because. ah, the 
..._PL_

86
_-_

36
_
1

_
50

_us_c_
3
_
6

_
05

~ • r-lc?~r~l~~K?':. t??II lah, worked well but it was slow at 
.,.♦.~ the time It would take a couple of hours to .. to really, ah. be able 
-.♦~:~;.-toJ)roduce a2 ah 1 a map of what was in .. in .. in any geographical area · [>~: 1 ~ • • • I So a lot of the work that we did went into 

··.sPeetii~g ~P the.t I and at the same time refining rts accuracy in terms of. 
eh, you~1u'l6'tt t the~----~~----- hat 1t 11 could document 
llm, I had~grl!i1!• !!am o .. o ::>rogrammers, ah, who .who were very 
successful in~&:toinQ .ft>a.t- And, ah. and we were providing daily updates to 
the".USS E,senh'O't(er aR~ .•. and the fleets that were sailing into the Persian 
Gult.were given th~.up .·.a~ .. updates every three hours. Ah, rt was a 
very rewarding time in fOY life•fuat .was, you know. I ... I worked as branch 
chief for five years Uh~ -my matn rols was . was to interact with the . . ~. . . 
customer. most of which wece militar9. ((Smack )) So I would travel to 
the ... to \he bases, identify what ♦tpeir currerirmethod of operations were 

~ . . 
and whaf.their needs were anc ickintrfy ways-that.we could help them in 
terms of., t:r·nt rating different ~ilities in.~ ..i~fo \he, ah ... ah, the 
COM . the correlator and the fl$P.ing tool fhat~. ause , the ~. . 
integration o e software and the mapp, tool-we used 
mapping tool at the time--the integration of •• • nd,._ ___ st·nto 
the SUNs was performed under a proJect ca _.., ____ ..,.1 have no 
idea where they come up with these names. but ((be chuckles)). but at any 
rate .Ah, and again we were quite successful in dep4qying that to, ah ah, 
Ber Field Station Berlin. ah. Hawaii. JICPAC. um. seva.ral military . 

. 
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installations that were doing I ~nalysis at the time. as well as 
providing updates to the. ah, task fore~ in the Persian Gulf. ((Pause; 
smack.)) Because of the military cnsis, 1ike I said before, funding was 
there Ah. you know. we .We had lots of rnoney to do really good things. 
Ah. I.. I.. I've never had, ah, such a great expefience as a branch chief or 
any supervisory position as I d d in that .. that role.• • 

Murdock: \!\'hen I think ofl 7the Air Force is the 
first service that comes to my mind: the Navy second: tf)e.Army third; and 
then of course the Marine Corps, kind of with the Navy but•~metimes on 
their own. DESERT SHIELD/DESERT STORM was, first anci'fQremost. 

. ·--------
---... • • :::·~ ~~r• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • \ J PL 86-36/5

0

0 USC 3605 I 
Murdock: Were the Air Force requirements very m~h. diUerent"for th~ ·a:r p~rtion of : 

the war than the Army requ1r~,:ie0ts -for"tfle ground portion of the war? Old : 
you have to JUmP. U,rough"diffe"Etnt hoops to to satisfy those : 
requiren:ientt in a real-time wo·ld? .. . . 

----•'. Yes ah. to some extent. And iCrustleH the . The main emphasislor 
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Murdock: 

Murdock: 
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f.1urdock: . . . 
l I= 

Murdock: 

1 I= 

Right 

Okay 
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I 
Murdock: And you were there for five years you sa,d? 

---... t Five years, yes. 

Murdock: · · A~d theri you a~cldecHoiun.,p ~~q 90 work for Support to Military 
Operations? • • • • • • • • •---------

---..:r • "'fes· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • J PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 l 
Murdock: Was that because of your WQrdi.netiort wnh th~1

Jr.tilitary forces during the 
war or .YPV 1ust t(cltckJ) ·needec a change of.i,ate~ : : 

___ _.j, •• A ;;,.;,binalion oftnsr-- 1.,.1.: j ~idn't !Ga1ix-kndii, what all was involved : 
that . that was in I dtdn't really .knov,rwha.t !911 was involved m that JOb • 
until I got there. because it. .. It was a. at\:senior ((shuffling)) staff job. Um. : 
but as it turned out, tt was exadty what1he name implies; support to : 
military operations for whattver they J'\eeded: A:large part of what I did in · 
that job was actually working, ah, with our fo(tes in ... in Korea.: Ah, for a. . 
ah, specifically what. .what I did wlls, um, in-helping to identify·the ... ah. 
prepare, update 1f yoti want the.cryptologic-supJ)ort plan for our forces in • 
Korea. we had t9-go out and ..• and renew nur etforts to ident1ty:what their 
m,ss,ons wer.&, ·you know. How they intercl'tted-with each othe(. Ah. 
and. and ldenhfy ways that we could support them If the flag·were to go : 
up in Kofea, where the North Koreans were to l:()me across th& river, then,· 
you know, the questiO~•was hew can we.sup~rt them with .. wjth : 
inteRigence? You know, what do they n~ed from us? ·····•· ......... -----~. . 

Mqrdock: • 

------"""-f . · xactly. Ah so I sp~nt the better part of. I think I was • 
ou ere , ea ost 10 weeks I visited Seoul. A good part of:my Journey· 
was in Seoul then I went to Yo~ota and to, ah; Okinawa and bc(sically met : 
with all the •.♦the tacttcal commanders to ident.ify what their m1ss10ns were : 
first And then Just, sit down m d1sc4Ssions w.)th them and. you:koow. how · 
can we help you? You know? What-data do you need from us? Do : 
you . Oo you know what databases· we have-at NSA? Do you .. ~ Do you • 

•• know-who to go to? Do. you know.■ and ... ana then, you know?· Lots and • 
•• lot~·of exchanges and . and than j\JSt lmmr back and .. and dunch1ng 
·lthose with ... with the other men~rs of o help, ah, make rttv1s1ons to 
_ • lthe crypto!<>9ic support plan spectfically. • 

Murdock:.•· Were you forced to then have a very close relationship with D 
• 1: Ah, yes.I ~ou ... you know. we were. ah, the chief of 

staff, ah, we were, ((smack)) a1 ... ah. m .m touch with all the 
requirements. realty. And .an:i trying to .. and sometimes. sometimes the : 
requirements conflicted. I mecn, ((pause)). you ... The Peninsula of Korea • 
is very complicated You·ve got several different commands out there 
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o s. you now, 1 was , ,cu , an . a . 
u , was , and rewarding to me. Well probably one of the 

• most rewarding jobs I had because I felt like it was helping. 

Murdock:: Did you fee~·any sense of urgency because at that time the President of 
North Korea was getting older He had declared that in his hfe time there I PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 r would be i1 unified Korea Was .Was there anything to assist you tn 

. ·=-·. _u_pp_,_·n...;.g_t .... fl_ts_i_n_th_e_p_ri_or_it_y_? _________________ ___, 

---""'f·: 4 ♦ 

. . . . . 

. . 
Murdock; : How were you able to tackl~ the fact that if the North Koreans came over 

• the ... the hne in mass as they.tad been expected to, ah, that you would 
·: • • I 
I: 

Pfurdoc~ · There was a standard joke tha: the first thing that needeti to be in that 
· I ICi■)•ptolog,c Support Plan, was· ""!ake sure you . . . . . 
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had a new patr of Nikes because you'd be running down whatever 
highway was .. ((laughter)) was available. 

EJ 
. 

...... --~t Yes. the terrain in. in .. in. ah. South Korea was such that as you .as you • 
• went south, ah, it felt like there ... there were hills in which kind of funneled : 

• ttown and they felt that that was the int where we had to real make our -
stand. Ah. 1t was .. 1t was it v.as. 

• (( n . ) ne o my successes • 
in that, ah, ·L . I think we eventualty. and rt wasn't Just me We had 
a .. There were a lot of people ,eloino me then. I was onlv one of the 
people that was involved in that. I 

·.. lso. 
ah, that's one of. ah, when I came back. because I had previously worked 
budget, I knew there was alwa;s a 1ot of money floating around in current 
year funding. ((Snap)) A gentleman named lee Fernholz at 
the ... unfortunately he is no longer with\1s, but ... but Lee would ... was "the­
expert on how much money did we currently have. And .. and to make a 
Ion sto short I with ermissk>n from m ~ from my boss who was. ah, ------~-"'!""!'"'!~-----~--~·n, ah,Q I approac ee and , entI r& this n aid, you know. 
everyone knew how important it was. And. and\.e·e managed ((scratch)) 
to come up with the money necessary to get these~~- fbese. ah~ secure 
devices. And .. and they were delivered m hke two meriths It was 
unbelievable. ((He chuckles.)) So ... so that really gave T'(le a s(\nse of 
satisfaction, the fact that, you ~.now. I knew something ga(.you:know, 
done. But. ah. I've always enjoyed working with the military.· •• , can speak 
military language I. . .I'm comf,:>rtable dealing with the military# they, ah. 
you know, it's .rt's, I think. one of my strong suits ((Rustling )5.rm 01 

,.,__ ______ _ 
to miss it when I retire ((He chuckles)) r1 s6-36/5o use 36o5 

Murdock: Well that bnngs us to your fina assignment.~• N&A as a cwN•!\~. 
Technical EllNT A,r,aLysis Cfess•l'raihing °F>rogram • • • 

---~.:. ·ves ·w~,i h~v-1~9 having been a branch chief in D~r five years 
and and realizing ((rustling)) '.hat that was a very hard act to follow. I I · 
didn't want to be a manager ar1ymore because I knew there's no way I 
could have as much fun being a manager as I had in that Job So I ... ah. 
you know. and promotions were slow and, you know, I really didn't care 
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that much about promotions other than being able to take ((rustling 
continues)) care of my family. but I wanted to do something that was fun 
And to me the fun thing about, ah, ELINT is doing ELINT analysis. what 
we call chasing those squiggly lines. Technical ELINT analysis 
not. .. versus operational ELINl analysis. And so I decided, well when they 
came ... The Agency came out 'Nith a cross training program for technical 
ELINT, ah. you know, analysis I just thought...thought, well I wonder if a 
guy as old as I am can .can g~t into that ((snap)) program And lo and 
behold I was successful in doing that and I spent three years going 
through the. ah, Advanced Technical ELINT Analysis Cross Training 

a ram Ah. ,t. rt . combined with OJT working in. ((snap)) in. ah, at 
oing ELINT analysis at th\l same time I went to school. Ah. it was 

very ettallenging. very rewarding. I successfully completed all of the 
course$.mcluding EA380. which 1s the bear of all ELINT courses. ((He 
laughs.})'And. ah, ((sniffs)) ... And I just decided that that's ... that's how I 
wanted to w,,p up my career. But I had .. I hadn't really thought about 
leaving the A~ncy at that poirt. um. but a thing called Softlanding came 
out and I decideawell, let me jJst float my resume out there to see ... to 
see what's out there, so. you know. And ((rustling)) lo and behold. ah, sol 
had a resume but lo a d behol:t. ah .. ah, an old friend of mine who had, 
ah, that I was in •• ith. who ((rustling continues)) had gone out as 
a, ah, started hi own usifless as a consultant, he used to come by and 
look, you know{talk to me ari~ ask about, ah. military people who were 
rehnng that we~e looking for jobs And he happened by thrs one day after 
I'd finished the:program and. an·d, ah. I sard, "Well, you know, I'd like to 
keep doing ELJNT." And I said, '"I ·.ttnd I thought I'd, you know, I'd do it 
here at the Agency but if there's .. if tt1ere's contract work out there that. 
you know, you think maybe, at,, I could oo, then here ... here's a rough 
copy of my re~ume. Let me krow rf you ·~. ((He chuckles.)) You know, 
it's ... it's .frorp there it just .I became a contt"ctor real fast. ((Rusthng )) 
But. . • . . 

Murdock: Softlanding. &,nfortunately, um. was too good of a oeal for anybody to pass 
up ((acknowledgement)) and especially after three ye~rs of an intense 
program. you certainty had sk1ls that the Agency shou . ......,..,1.111,1-.ao1.11111~---
retain. · ---•= · · ((Smack".)) The probre·m was.: .so \tie· quesf~.is wn; , eave. · e 
problem wi.s ((he cja: his r1oal)l t1Te"6Udget did not support th&need 
for analyticj:)I tools in _ I had a SPARC·2 system sitting on roy desk. 
And, you know. ah, at t at time the process of converting the ., : 

11\nd some ,__~-~------...-~--..................... ----.-----• of the files were so large, with a SPARC-2 I'd get half way through the 
: program and my system would crash And the, you know, Jim Sa~ler who 
• was my ooss and several people at that level were so frustrated tfiat we 

• couldn't 9et any money to get larger systems - Jim actually. ah. S\8pped 
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down, ah. as the department head and, ah said he hoped that 
someone .... he couldn't get people promoted ((click)), he couldn't get good 
equipment 1n there. He was · ust frustrated There were. at that time when 
I left. there were ..,_ ________________ ---.:sic) in 

the Agency. The rest were mi itary who came and le and came a d left 
and everything was heading toward Denver. it seemed like. And ((t_ap)). 
ah, I just kind of saw the writing on the wall, I think. I ... and so ... and then 
the .. The element leader at the time, it wasn't Jim, rt was someone else 
that I won't mention, came out one day when I ((shuffle)) was kind dJ 
mulling this over in my mind, aid she called everyone together and ~he 
said, "I want to ... I want to just lay rt out the way it is." She said. ''It doesn't 
matter if you're the top ELINT analyst woncing the hottest signals. if you·re 
looking for a, ah .ah a 14 or", I was a 13 step 7 at the time, "14 or a:15, 1t 
Just isn't going to happen " And I .. I questtoned, .. Well. what do you have 
to dor 'Well, you have to. ah, you know, be diversified. You have to: 
spend some time overseas,. I said, "Well, I spent 10 years overseas: 
What else?·· ((Crackling.)) "Well, you have to work program budget a:,,d 
bi .. program build,r I said, "Well. I did that. What else?" And the bottc,m 
line is everything that was said. rt was ... I'd already done it And it was 
like But she said there ·s there ·s no hope for promotions. And so W.,1th1n 
three days of that my friend. the ((rustling)) consultant, headhunter, came 
by and I said, "Here. take my resume." So that's how it ended Althowgh, 
I'm still here ((He laughs.)) · 

Murdock: Let me ask you some general questions. 

---~t .. Ofs.~Y- ......... ■ •••• ■ ■ •••••••••••• ■ • ■ ••• ---------
Murdock: . . -~~e_r~ ~s-~p:~a_ti~~~I _E_L~~~ ~~~ t~~~e~s. t~~~~•~a! ~-~~-~-~?..I PL 86-36/50 use 36os 1 

-
___ ,, ,es .... • . . . . . 

Murdock: What did YQl.J tnost•enjdy"an<f why?. . . . 
---•: • • ((P~~s~; smack.)) Oh that's a hard question~use I loved them bottl 

The ... The satisfaction I got from techni~r~LINT was putting together,he 
pieces of a puzzle, ((stutter)) and looktng at the stack of tapes and ELINT 
reports I had finished at the end. Qfthe day. and I could physically measure 
my accomplishments for th~ clly. But ((rustling; snap)) the real sense Jn 
that is putting all those R&rhmetrics together, but the thing that I really · 
enJoyed was putting.air those i:arametrics together and identifying not iust 
what the radar w.as and the weapons system it was associated with. but 
knowing how to defeat that s1g1al if you had to defeat it That was. antf 
still is, <!h. ♦a . ((smack)) a lot of fun, ah, you know • . 

Murdock: Yqu mean defeat it. not just blowing ,t up but defeating it through electro-
• magnetic means? 

____ 1: Yes Absolutely, ((rusthng)) whether it be Jamming or.. or other • 
techniques Ah. from the operational ELINT perspective, ah. one thing I 
didn't mention was that my na\'al reserve experience - while I was an • 
Agency employee. I was also a naval reservist with the Naval Security: . 
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Group, ah. Baltimore ((shuffling)) 106. which we drilled right here at NSA 
Ah, I was, I. you know, I became the. ah, the. ah. ELINT division chief and 
we had four teams of ind,viduas that drilled down at ONI doing .actually 
on the watch floor. ah. su lementin the active du u s down there 

,__ __________________ __, Ah. so operahonal 

• ELINT tells the commanders where those ... those threats are so that they 
: can plan their missions. It's .. It's crucial. But you ... to do real operational 
: ELINT you have to know what the parametric values are and so technical 

ELINT is also crucial. Ah, the two of them together and my opportunity 
• to. . to use both of them togethar, both as a reserv,st and in some civilian 
• Jobs that I had at the Agency v.as ((pause)}, I loved ... I .. I love .. I loved it 
• It was great. The other things. the budget and all that, they were They 

were extra things thrown m. which gave me a lot of insight as to why and 
• how the Agency operates as it does. What some of the difficutties are in 
• the ... in ... in getting things accomplished. Ah. and so it .it it kind of, in 
• that regard and while I didn't agree with everything, ah, I at least 
• understood why things could or couldn't happen sometimes. And I thmk 
: that's what allowed me to keei;: my samty ((He chuckles.)) 

Murdock: • ln ... in all your dealings with the military, your period of time at Berlin and 
• workin the CSP for Korea, did ou have an cause to discuss ELINT with 

I PL 86-36/5

1

0 USC 3605 I 

• now .. a , c uc es a a ar 1me ge mg roug a po ygrap 
• during that phase betaus~ of it, but I did. ((Laughter.)) We went on But 
• still, um. ((smack)) that's. 1hat's really the only time as an Agency 

--------· employee, ah, that I've .. Tve wotlted with Second, not Second Party, but, 
ah. Yeah, I worked with Second Party~ .Third Party, ah, I worked with, but 
not as an Agency employee l:'s been since·l'.v~ been a contractor. 

EO 1. 4. (b) 
EO 1. 4. ( c) 
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((smack)) so... • 
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Murdock: • 
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9ee"r:arneeMnn,,ies1e 1ee .1 PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 l 
. . . . . 

We've got about 10 more minutes. ls.ttiefe"any.tn{ng that I should have 
asked that I didn't ask( _Is ihere' anything thfit you want to captu~ for 
prospenty·s s~ks or1 fhis audio recording?. ·«Pause)) You never told me 
where-yotJ "met wife number two? • •. 

wo mg en a e gency. e on y o er mg a wou .a ts 
that I have ... Ah, little did I know when I left upstate New York to ~me to 
NSA what I was getting into. but ,t has been . I've been very, very lucky 
Ah. you know. from .from the time that I first. in boot camp, that [ first 
went to classlf,cation and picked out of a book a rating that I wanted to be, 
not knowing anything about it other than it was a CT and it had to- do with 
electronics and you needed a security clearance, that was the beginning 
of my whole start of the clearance and everything into NSA. And: ah, 
((sniff)) because my Navy training is what caused NSA to call me: Um, I 
don't believe there's a place in the world where you can work and find 
different md1vidual career tracks within the same organization that you can 
expand your knowledge and continually learn new things as. as lJreat as 
what the Agency offers. Ah. ((smack)) so I. .. got .within two yea~ I'm 
retinng for the final time. Retired from NSA retired from the reserves And 
I've been a contractor now for ,ine years and, ah, I'm ... I'm ready:to pull up 
stakes and nde my recumbent bicycle all over the place ((laugttter )) Ah, 
but no. it's Ifs been a wonderful opportunity and I'm extremely Qrateful 

Murdock: Okay Well on the behalf of the Center for Cryptologic History anl:1 myself, 
I'd like to thank you very much for spending this time and sharing:your 
stories with us. And I wish yo1., and your wife the best of luck in y?ur 
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retirement homel I . 
___ ...,.t • Thank you Thank you very muth. . . . 
Murdock: Tha

0

nk
0

ybCJ ve~.f\'lUCh. The final tLassification of this tape will be 
SECRETIICOMINT •• • • • • . • • 

.. ·:]PL 86-36/50 use 36051 

. 
[End of Interview OH-2007-09 .. • ___ ___..f 
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